codex alimentarius commission

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

JOINT OFFICE:

Via delle Terme di Caracalla 00100 ROME: Tel. 57971 Telex: 610181 FAO I. Cables Foodagri Facsimile: 6799563

CX 4/10

ALINORM 89/33

JOINT FAO/WHO FOOD STANDARDS PROGRAMME

CODEX ALIMENTARIUS COMMISSION

Eighteenth Session

Geneva, 3-12 July 1989

REPORT OF THE NINTH SESSION OF THE CODEX COMMITTEE ON GENERAL PRINCIPLES
Paris, 24-28 April 1989

Summary and Conclusions

The Ninth Session of the Codex Committee on General Principles reached the following conclusions during its deliberations:

- recommended that the Commission approve a policy decision with respect to Rule III.1 of the Commission's Rules of Procedure reflecting the current practice of the Executive Committee, (paras 13-17);
- agreed to forward the Revised Guidelines for Acceptance of Codex Standards to the Commission for adoption, (para 36);
- agreed that proposals for the amendment of the Codex Elaboration Procedures concerning the acceptance of standards by regional economic groupings be forwarded to the Commission for adoption, (para 43 and Appendix II);
- agreed to adopt and forward to the Commission for endorsement recommendations 1-3 of the Executive Committee concerning the relationship between Codex and the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade. The Committee also agreed to adopt recommendation 4 of the Executive Committee in principle, pending the publication of a revised working paper for presentation to the 36th Session of the Executive Committee, (para 29);
- agreed to recommend to the Commission that the terms of reference of the Regional Coordinating Committees be aligned. The Committee also agreed that the terms of reference should include a mandate "to promote the acceptance of Codex standards by countries of the Region", (paras 47);
- agreed to recommend that the Commission adopt a policy statement for future guidance concerning Procedures for Accelerated Elaboration to Meet Emergencies, (para 55);
- agreed to refer the question of format for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables back to the Committee on Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables (CCTFFV), with a request that the Codex format should be respected in regard to those matters not dealing exclusively with commercial quality, (para 60);
- agreed that there was no need for amendments to the Procedural Manual concerning acceptance procedures for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables. The Committee also agreed that Governments, in indicating the acceptance of such standards, should notify the Commission which provisions of the standard were being accepted for application at the point of import, and which were being accepted for application at the point of export, (paras 65-66);

Summary and Conclusions (Cont.d)

- in this regard it confirmed that current Codex procedures for the elaboration of World-Wide Codex Standards did not need amendment, as they provided adequate procedures for collaboration with other interested international organizations. However, the Committee agreed that provisions relating to the role of UNECE in the elaboration of standards be included as a note to the Codex Elaboration Procedure, (para 69);
- agreed that the Committee's opinion concerning liaison with the OECD should be brought to the attention of the Commission, (para 73);
- endorsed the proposed Procedures for the Elaboration of Codex Maximum Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs with the understanding that the use of the terms "level" and "limit" would be discussed at the 18th Session of the Commission and that any change made by the Commission to the procedures concerning acceptance by international organizations would be applied equally to the procedures for residues of veterinary drugs, (paras 76-80);
- endorsed the proposed Procedures for the Acceptance of Recommended Codex Maximum Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs in Foods with the understanding that any action taken by the Commission concerning the examintion of types of acceptance of maximum limits for pesticide residues (see below) would be applied automatically to the acceptance procedures for residues of veterinary drugs, (para 80);
- referred the proposed definitions of "maximum residue level" and "good practices in the use of veterinary drugs" to the Commission, without a decision regarding endorsement, (paras 81-86);
- recommended that the forms of acceptance for maximum residue levels for pesticides and veterinary drugs be limited to Full Acceptance and Free Distribution, and that the use of Limited and Target Acceptance be discontinued. (paras 87-93);
- agreed that the draft Manual of Policy Decisions should be reviewed and up-dated by secretariats from the host countries of Codex Committees and the the Codex Secretariat, (paras 94-96);
- made recommendations to the Commission aimed at strengthening the Commission's activities to coordinate the work on food standards undertaken by other international organizations, (paras 97-101);
- noted the amendments proposed by the Codex Committee on Food Labelling in relation to changes to the sections in the Procedural Manual dealing with the Relations between Codex Commodity Committees and General Subject Committees (Guidelines on Labelling Provisions in Codex Standards and the Format of Codex Standards, (para 102).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Summary and Conclusions	111
Introduction	1
Adoption of the Agenda	1
Matters Arising from the Seventeenth Session of the Codex Alimentarius	
Commission and Other Codex Bodies	1
Codex Guidelines on Labelling Provisions in Codex Standards	1
Consideration of the Joint FAO/WHO Proposed Levels for Radionuclide Contamination of Food in International Trade	2
Other Matters of Interest	2
Composition of the Executive Committee	2
The Relationship between the Codex Alimentarius Commission and the	
GATT Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade	3
Guidelines for Acceptance of Codex Standards	5
Acceptance of Standards by Regional Economic Groupings	6
of Reference of the Coordinating Committee for Europe	7
Procedures for Accelerated Elaboration to Meet Emergencies	7
Procedure for Elaboration of Codex Standards for Tropical	
Fresh Fruits and Vegetables	8
Format for Standards for Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables	8
Application and Acceptance of Standards for Tropical Fresh	
Fruits and Vegetables	9
Elaboration Procedures for Codex Standards for Tropical Fresh	
Fruits and Vegetables	10
Liaison with the Working Party on Standardization of Perishable	
Produce of the UNECE and with OECD	10
Endorsement of Matters Arising from the Third Session of the Codex	
Committee on Residues of Veterinary Drugs in Foods	11
Proposed Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Maximum Residue	
Levels for Veterinary Drugs	11
Proposed Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Maximum	
Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs - Introductory Section	11
Proposed Procedure for the Acceptance of Recommended Codex	
Maximum Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs in Foods	12
Proposed Definition for Maximum Residue Level (MRL)	12
Proposed Definition for Good Practices in the Use of	
Veterinary Drugs	12
•	12
Examination of Types of Acceptance of Maximum Limits for Pesticide	1.0
Residues	13
Summary of Policy Decisions by the Commission	13
Strengthening the Activities of the Codex Alimentarius Commission	
to Coordinate Work on Food Standards Undertaken by other	
International Organizations	14
Other Business	15

			Page
Appendix	I:	List of Participants	16
Appendix II:	II:	Proposed Amendments to the Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Standards, Codex of Practice and Codex Maximum Limits for Pesticide	
		Residues	24
Appendix	III:	Acceptance Procedure for Codex Standards	25
Appendix IV:	IV:	Communication from the GATT Representative	•
		Sanitary and Phytosanitary Regulations	31
Appendix	V:	Recommendations of the Executive Committee on the Relationship between the Codex Alimentarius	
		Commission and GATT	32

•

ı

.

INTRODUCTION

- 1. The Codex Committee on General Principles held its Ninth Session in Paris, 24-28 April 1989, under the Chairmanship of Professor Jean-Jacques Bernier, President of the National Codex Alimentarius Committee.
- 2. The Session was attended by 58 delegates from 25 countries and 15 observers from 10 international organizations. A complete list of participants is given as Appendix I to this Report.
- 3. The Session was opened by Mr. Guthmann, Directeur de Cabinet, on behalf of Mme Neiertz, State Secretary for Consumption, Ministry of Finance. Mr. Guthmann recalled the origin of the Codex Alimentarius Commission which had followed the creation, in Paris in 1958, of a European Council for the Codex Alimentarius, which was the first effort to internationalize the idea of consumer protection. The subsequent creation of the Codex Alimentarius Commission in 1962 by FAO and WHO meant that the establishment of standards to protect the consumer and to facilitate international trade would be assured in a dynamic manner which could be adapted to the constantly changing needs and techniques of food production, processing and distribution.
- 4. Mr. Guthmann drew attention to the practical aspects which the Commission took into account in examining food production, quality control and safety: quality of the raw materials and their freedom from contamination or excess residues; good manufacturing practices, for example in the use of additives; consumer information through labelling; and control of the final product by established methods of sampling and analysis. Finally, Mr. Guthmann called upon the Committee to recall the original principles of the Codex Alimentarius as a service to all developed and developing countries, producers, distributors and consumers.

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA (Item 2)

5. The Committee adopted the Provisional Agenda CX/GP 89/1 as its Agenda for the Session. Upon the proposal of the delegation of Switzerland, it was agreed to discuss Item 5(b) ("Acceptance of Standards of Regional Economic Groupings") before 5(a) ("Guidelines for Acceptance of Codex Standards").

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE SEVENTEENTH SESSION OF THE CODEX ALIMENTARIUS COMMISSION AND OTHER CODEX BODIES (Item 3)

6. The Committee had before it Working Paper CX/GP 89/2, and noted that most matters of interest were scheduled for discussion by the Committee under other relevant agenda items. The Codex Secretariat also gave an oral report on matters of interest arising from the recently concluded Codex Committee sessions on Food Labelling, Food Additives and Contaminants and Pesticide Residues.

Codex Guidelines on Labelling Provisions in Codex Standards

- 7. The Committee noted that the Codex Committee on Food Labelling had agreed that most sections of the Codex Guidelines on Labelling Provisions in Codex standards repeated those contained in the General Labelling Standard, and in only a few cases provided additional guidance to Codex Committees (paras 31-37 and Appendix IV, ALINORM 89/22). As a consequence, the Labelling Committee agreed to propose the elimination of the majority of the Guidelines while retaining relevant optional sections (i.e. date-marking and storage instructions, non-retail container labelling) for inclusion in the Procedural Manual under "Relations between Commodity Committees and General Committees".
- 8. At the suggestion of the delegation of Norway, the revised Procedural Manual Section (Appendix IV, ALINORM 89/22) was distributed to the Committee for information as Conference Room Document 3. The Committee decided to take up further discussion of this matter under agenda item 13, Other Business.

Consideration of the Joint FAO/WHO Proposed Levels for Radionuclide Contamination of Food in International Trade

- 9. The Committee noted recent discussions at the Codex Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants (CCFAC, paras. 27-38, ALINORM 89/12A) concerning the proposed levels. This subject was also discussed at the Seventeenth Session of the Commission (paras. 34-53, ALINORM 87/39) as well as the Thirty-fourth (paras 27-28, ALINORM 87/4) and Thirty-fifth (paras. 18-20, ALINORM 89/3) Sessions of the Executive Committee.
- 10. At the CCFAC meeting, in response to comments from some countries concerning values proposed which these countries considered to be too high, representatives of FAO and WHO indicated that the proposals were intended to apply in the case of accidental contamination of foods, and the CCFAC decided to reflect this in the title of the revised document. The CCFAC also decided to establish separate recommendations for infant foods, and agreed that matters related to sampling and analysis techniques should be considered at a future date. The CCFAC decided to forward the revised proposals to the Eighteenth Commission Session. The revised document is being circulated for comments as ALINORM 89/11.
- 11. The delegate of Argentina welcomed FAO and WHO deliberations in this area, and suggested that the proposed levels could be revised and adjusted in the future.

Other Matters of Interest

12. The Committee decided to discuss other matters of interest under their respective agenda items.

COMPOSITION OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (Item 4)

- 13. The Committee had before it document CX/GP 89/3, prepared by the Secretariat following the request of the Seventeenth Session of the Commission that the Committee examine the composition and procedures of the Executive Committee, especially with regard to regional representation. The paper did not recommend any change in the Rules of Procedure, but indicated that the practices of the Executive Committee had evolved, especially over recent years, such that its members which were the elected Representatives of geographical locations or regions were more frequently accompanied by advisors at the Executive Committee's Sessions. This was seen as a positive trend, allowing more senior officials to take part in the Executive Committee's work.
- 14. The Committee welcomed the paper and supported its general conclusions. Many delegations, however, expressed the opinion that there was a need to provide a clear statement, possibly as an annotation or a footnote to Rule III.1, which would outline the role of advisors at meetings of the Executive Committee. It was agreed that such a note should reflect current practice, and also indicate the restrictions which should apply to the participation of advisors.
- 15. The Committee recognized that certain members of the Executive Committee, viz., the Chairman and the three Vice-Chairmen, were elected to the Committee as individuals. Representatives of the geographical locations described in Rule III.1 however, were elected on a country basis and this had been the practice since the first session of the Commission.
- 16. The Committee also recognized that there would be extreme difficulty in amending Rule III.1 in order to clarify its meaning and to reflect current practice. Nevertheless it was agreed that a written statement, perhaps for inclusion in the proposed Manual of Policy Decisions (see also paras. 95-97 below), should be prepared. On the advice of the Representatives of the Legal Counsels of FAO and WHO, the Committee therefore recommended that the Commission approve the following understanding with respect to Rule III.1 of the Commission's Rules of Procedure, reflecting the current practice of the Executive Committee:

- 1. Except for the Chairman and the three Vice-Chairmen, the six further members of the Executive Committee elected by the Commission to represent the geographic locations are countries and not individuals.
- 2. The delegate of a Member may be accompanied by not more than two advisors from the same geographic location.
- Regional Coordinators shall be invited to attend meetings of the Executive Committee as observers.
- 4. Only members or, with the permission of the Chairman, observers, may take part in the discussions.
- 17. During the course of the discussion the delegation of Norway drew attention to the usefulness of consultation and feedback between the regional representative and the countries of the region which were being represented. The Committee was informed that practices in this regard varied from region to region, and that the regional Coordinating Committees were of considerable assistance in this regard.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE CODEX ALIMENTARIUS COMMISSION AND THE GATT COMMITTEE ON TECHNICAL BARRIERS TO TRADE (Item 5)

- 18. The Committee had before it working paper CX/GP 89/6, which provided a summary and background of the relationship between the Commission and the GATT Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade. The paper also highlighted discussions and recommendations arising from the 35th Session of the Executive Committee (paras. 35-37, ALINORM 89/3) concerning this subject. The Committee noted written comments received from Finland, New Zealand, Thailand and the United States of America in Conference Room Documents 1 and 2.
- 19. The Committee welcomed the participation of a representative from the GATT Agriculture Division during its discussions on this issue. The GATT Representative summarized recent deliberations of the Negotiating Group on Agriculture in the current GATT Uruguay Round, where a Working group on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures had been established. The Working Group, which met twice in the second half of 1988, endorsed the harmonization of national sanitary and phytosanitary regulations as a long term goal, through a work programme embodying several objectives. The seven objectives of the Working Group were circulated to the Committee for information, and are included as Appendix IV to this Report.
- 20. The delegations of the United Kingdom, France, Denmark, Belgium and the Federal Republic of Germany referring to the proposals contained in CX/GP 89/6 felt that confirmation of the Executive Committee recommendations, especially those related to revisions of the notification system and the Codex Procedural Manual, was premature. Although the strengthening of the GATT/Codex relationship was felt to be a positive development, it was also suggested that the relationship between the respective organization's guidelines and procedures warranted further examination. The delegations of Belgium and Finland also noted that Codex standards and acceptance procedures were flexible and voluntary in nature, and in spite of the adoption of several standards and codes of practice by the Commission, the acceptance of these items by member countries of the CAC was insufficient. Some delegations expressed the hope that the strengthening of the GATT/Codex relationship would not have any negative influences on the flexibility and nature of Codex procedures. It was also indicated that GATT was not a standardizing organization, and therefore, its comments on Codex standards as well as perceived areas of duplication of effort were questioned.
- 21. The delegations of the United Kingdom, Switzerland and France requested clarification as to the effect and consequences of the GATT Working Group objectives on Codex deliberations. The delegation of the Federal Republic of Germany also asked if the validity of Codex standards could be questioned by GATT and requested clarification as to

which Codex body would provide advice to GATT. Clarification was also sought as to GATT procedures in the event of a dispute in which Codex standards and those of other international organizations had been referred to, but which differed.

- 22. The observer of the EEC declared that in the framework of a global positive consideration, recommendations no. 1 and 2 of the Executive Committee concerning the avoidance of duplication of effort, were acceptable. However, the recommendations concerning the notifications have been felt to be premature and consequently the revision of the Codex Procedural Manual was felt to be irrelevant at this stage.
- Support for the endorsement of the Executive Committee recommendations was expressed by the delegations of the United States, Australia, Mexico, Norway, New Zealand, Canada, Sweden, Argentina and Brazil. The delegation of Norway noted that Codex standards were widely adopted and used, regardless of their acceptance by individual Codex member countries. It was noted that the Executive Committee proposals simply clarified the already existing Codex/GATT relationship, and therefore, a Procedural Manual reference to GATT was a logical step. The delegation of the United States supported this view, and noted that the proposed Procedural Manual reference would formalize the existing CAC/GATT relationship, thus permitting GATT to be fully informed during the standards' setting process of Codex and receiving each country's views on acceptance of established standards. It was also suggested that the reciprocal notification system be revised by the Codex and GATT Secretariats for submission to the Commission. The delegations of Australia and Mexico supported these statements and noted that by endorsing the proposals, the challenge of strengthening this relationship was a positive development. It was noted further that the proposals were not introducing major procedural changes, but were only strengthening the notion of a decrease in non-technical trade barriers to trade through the use of food standards. The delegation of Mexico also noted the importance of Codex standards for use in developing countries. The delegation of New Zealand emphasized the importance and use of sanitary and phytosanitary measures in Codex standards and codes of practice relating to meat hygiene and fish. The delegation of Canada supported a strengthened Codex/GATT relationship, especially in regard to "horizontal" issues, as this was the future direction of work of Codex. It was noted that Article 708 of the recently concluded US/Canadian Trade Agreement recognized Codex as an important standard setting body. The delegations of Sweden, Argentina and Brazil supported the confirmation of all Executive Committee proposals, with a view towards a strengthened GATT/Codex relationship. The delegation of Austria supported the proposals, with the understanding that Codex procedures and standards were clearly understood by GATT, in that they are a valuable and flexible instrument of international harmonization.
- 24. The GATT representative provided further information and advice to the Committee concerning this matter. The Representative recognized that GATT was not a standardizing body, but a forum for trade discussions and dispute settlement. The Working Group on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures was established to prevent barriers to trade in this area, and the seven points of the group's work programme emphasized this aim. It was noted that GATT did not duplicate the standardizing work of other bodies, and therefore, that the competence of Codex and other standardizing international organizations in the areas of sanitary and phytosanitary measures was being recognized as a major element of the working group deliberations.
- 25. The GATT representative also explained that the mechanism for the exchange of information and notifications was in a preliminary stage, but nevertheless, the exchange in itself was felt to promote understanding through discussions and the attendance of observers at each others meetings. The exchange of information and notifications of acceptance between Codex and GATT was already taking place.
- 26. The GATT representative informed the Committee about the arbitration role of GATT, explaining that bilateral consultations were a first step in the process, and if unsuccessful, an independent GATT panel was established to study the issue. The panel report was submitted to the GATT contracting parties where it had to be adopted by

consensus to take effect. The panel would rely on scientific expertise of Codex and other international organizations to help resolve the dispute. If the GATT panel was faced with conflicting international organization standards, the panel would not decide between the two, but would consider all information presented in the arbitration process. GATT was not obviously in a position to change Codex standards, and the flexibility and content of the standards or codes would be maintained, as the panel only decided whether or not the trade restriction was legitimate.

- 27. Under existing notification procedures, GATT members were also required to indicate to GATT if they were not using, or were in conflict with, Codex standards. Codex would continue to notify GATT of acceptances of Codex standards. The GATT representative concluded that the deliberations of the Working Group on Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures regarding dispute settlement, as well as the procedures of the Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade, continued to be under review. The Committee expressed pleasure that the GATT Secretariat could attend the Session, and thanked the representative for the information provided.
- 28. The Codex Secretariat <u>agreed</u> that the working paper required updating to reflect the recent deliberations of the GATT Working Group and indicated that Codex had recently resumed its responsibilities related to the notification procedures. The transfer of information between parties and the use of Codex standards was felt to be an important aspect within the mandate of the Codex Alimentarius Commission. The improvement of the relationship between GATT, Codex and other international organizations was also recognized as an ongoing process which has already commenced. It was agreed that more information was needed in this area, and that the use of the recommendations of JECFA, JMPR and Codex related to quality control and safety by GATT was of paramount importance.
- 29. The Committee <u>agreed</u> to adopt and forward to the Commission recommendations 1-3 of the Executive Committee regarding the avoidance of duplication of effort, the revision of the existing notification system and increased harmonization between parties. Although recommendation 4 regarding a Procedural Manual reference to GATT was accepted by the Committee in principle, because some delegations felt there was a need for more information, a final decision by this Committee was deferred pending the examination of a revised working paper at the 36th Session of the Executive Committee.
- 30. The recommendations of the Executive Committee are reproduced in Appendix V to this present report.

GUIDELINES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF CODEX STANDARDS

- 31. The Committee had before it Appendix IV of ALINORM 87/33, which were the Draft Guidelines adopted by the Committee at its last Session. The Committee also noted written comments received from Poland, Thailand, United States (CRD 1), Finland and New Zealand (CRD 2).
- 32. The Committee noted that the revised guidelines had been endorsed by the Seventeenth Session of the Commission (para. 142, ALINORM 89/39) although the Commission had agreed that they should be circulated to governments for comments and re-submission to the Eighteenth Commission Session for adoption. The Guidelines were distributed for comments under Circular Letter 1988/55-GP.
- 33. The delegations of the United Kingdom and Switzerland indicated that the application of Types II, III and IV Codex Reference Methods of analyses was still subject to review, although it was agreed that the application of Codex Defining Methods of Analysis (Type I) was acceptable.
- 34. In addition, it was pointed out by the delegation of Sweden that the second part of the sentence in paragraph 19 was no longer applicable, as the recent Codex Committee on Food Labelling Session decided that the labelling sections of Codex standards should address the Codex General Labelling Standard in general terms. The Codex Secretariat

also suggested the removal of paragraph 20, as it was no longer applicable in view of the recent publication of the Revised General Standard for the Labelling of Prepackaged Foods.

- 35. The Committee <u>agreed</u> to the revision of paragraph 19 and the deletion of paragraph 20. The Committee also noted that sections (b) through (d) of paragraph 22 were subject to further revision by the Committee on Methods of Analysis and Sampling. Noting that section (b) in particular seemed to be overly restrictive, the Committee decided to indicate its decisions in a footnote to this paragraph of the Guidelines.
- 36. The revised guidelines are included as Appendix III to this report. The Committee agreed to forward the revised Guidelines to the Commission for adoption.

ACCEPTANCE OF STANDARDS BY REGIONAL ECONOMIC GROUPINGS (Item 5 (b))

- 37. Document CX/GP 89/6 on the above subject had been prepared by the Secretariat in consultation with the EEC, as had been requested by the Seventeenth Session of the Commission (ALINORM 87/39, para. 138).
- 38. The document contained proposed amendments to certain sections of the Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Standards, Codes of Practice and Codex Maximum Limits for Pesticide Residues concerning notification of the acceptances of standards. The Secretariat drew attention to certain inaccuracies in the French and Spanish version of the proposals, and a small correction to the English text. The Committee also noted the written comments of Finland, New Zealand, Thailand and the United States on the paper.
- 39. The observer from the EEC confirmed that the English version of the document should be taken as the basis of discussion and stated that the proposed amendments were acceptable to the European Community. However, in order to achieve the objectives, the observer also proposed that an "assimilation clause" should be included in paragraphs 4, 5, 6 and 7 of the General Principles of the Codex Alimentarius, which would mean that each mention of the word "country" where it appeared for the first time in these paragraphs would also be taken to mean international organizations to which their member states had transferred competence in the matter.
- 40. The delegation of Sweden raised the question whether amendments would be required to Rule VII of the Commission's Rules of Procedure, dealing with the role of observers. The Committee <u>agreed</u> that the proposals related only to notification of acceptance and in no way affected the role of observers from such international organizations or regional organizations at meetings of the Commission or its subsidiary bodies.
- 41. The Legal Advisors from FAO and WHO expressed their opinions that the inclusion of an assimilation clause in paragraphs 4, 5, 6 and 7 of the General Principles would have substantial implications in respect of the concepts of jurisdiction and territorial application which applied to the obligations of the member governments of the Codex Alimentarius Commission but might not be proper in respect of an international organization. It was important to ensure consistency with the proposed amendment but the proposed assimilation clause required further study before a conclusion could be reached. The delegation of Norway also expressed its concern at the scope of application of the proposed assimilation clause.
- 42. The delegations of France and the United Kingdom supported the statement of the observer of the EEC, stating that the transfer of competence by member states of the European Community to the EEC meant that the EEC could make certain commitments on behalf of its member states and that certain instruments of the Council of the EEC had force of law in the territories of the member states. Under such conditions, these delegations said, the use of an assimilation clause into the Acceptance Procedures would be an automatic application of proposed amendments to the Elaboration Procedure.

43. The Committee <u>agreed</u> that the proposals of the Secretariat for amendment of the Codex Elaboration Procedures as reproduced in Appendix II to this report, should be transmitted to the Commission for adoption. The Committee further proposed that the Legal Advisors and the Secretariat of the EEC should further discuss the proposed "assimilation clause" to determine if amendments should be made to the General Principles of the Codex Alimentarius.

PROCEDURE FOR THE ELABORATION OF CODEX REGIONAL STANDARDS: TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE COORDINATING COMMITTEE FOR EUROPE (Item 6)

- 44. The Committee had before it document CX/GP 89/7, a paper prepared by the Secretariat and comments thereon, contained in Conference Room Documents 1 and 2 from Finland, New Zealand, Thailand and the United States. In introducing the paper, the Secretariat drew attention to the views of the 35th Session of the Executive Committee on this matter (paragraph 10).
- 45. The Committee recalled that the Commission had decided to refer problems related to regional standards to the Executive Committee and the Committee on General Principles for consideration and advice recognizing that the resolution of these problems might require amendments of Codex Procedures. The Secretariat, drawing attention to possible alternate procedures which might be followed for the elaboration of standards for which no commodity committee was established, proposed that reconsideration might be given to the establishment of an "omnibus" Committee which would be responsible for such work.
- 46. The delegation of the Netherlands, Switzerland and the United Kingdom, supported the conclusion of the paper that the terms of reference of the coordinating committees should be brought into conformity with each other, and that the functions and responsibilities of the committees should be aligned. They did not, however, support the proposals put forward by the Secretariat for alternative procedures for the elaboration of standards although the delegation of the Netherlands stated there could be some merit in having a clearer description of the functions and responsibilities of an "Omnibus Committee". The delegations of Belgium, Norway and the United Kingdom spoke in favour of ad hoc arrangements other than the creation of an "omnibus" committee.
- 47. The Committee <u>agreed</u> to recommend to the Commission that the terms of reference of the regional coordinating committees be aligned. It also <u>agreed</u>, upon the proposal of the delegation of the Federal Republic of Germany, that the terms of reference should include a mandate "to promote the acceptance of Codex standards by countries of the region", as it appeared that there would be a better opportunity to reach agreement on acceptances in regional fora.
- 48. The Committee also <u>agreed</u> that the Secretariat should prepare a paper outlining the possibility of enlarging the territorial scope and application of the present regional standards adopted by the Commission.
- 49. The delegation of the United States stated that such a paper should envisage review of regional standards by the full membership of the Commission as was the case with other standards under elaboration as world-wide Codex standards.
- 50. The Committee was informed that 4 of the 6 countries not presently members of Codex coordinating committees had indicated their willingness to participate in a new Regional Coordinating Committee for the North American and South-West Pacific regions. The Committee recommended that the terms of reference of such a Committee or any future similar committees if established by the Commission, should be aligned in conformity with the terms of reference agreed upon above.

PROCEDURES FOR ACCELERATED ELABORATION TO MEET EMERGENCIES (Item 7)

51. The Committee had for its consideration, document CX/GP 89/8, prepared by the Secretariat in response to the recommendation of the Executive Committee at its 34th

Session. The document acknowledged that the procedures of the Codex Alimentarius Commission were not well-suited to meet emergency situations and that the use of the Codex framework for such a purpose might not be appropriate in view of the Commission mandate to arrive at internationally recommended food standards based on consensus, which was in itself a time-consuming process.

- 52. Comments on the paper from New Zealand and the United States of America were also available to the Committee in Conference Room Documents 1 and 2.
- 53. Many delegations drew attention to the difficulty of defining unforeseen emergency situations and questioned whether it was advisable to set up any formal procedures. In the opinion of most delegations which spoke, it was believed to be essential that actions should be taken by FAO and WHO, either jointly or at least in close cooperation, to meet the immediate needs of member countries of the Commission and then enable action by the Commission at an early opportunity. Several delegations drew attention to the role which might be played by the Executive Committee, in ensuring that early action would be taken by the Commission, if the need arose.
- 54. Many delegations considered that the Secretariat's proposals were perhaps too detailed and this might not provide for the flexibility of response which would be required. The Committee confirmed that joint or coordinated expert advice would need to be made available in any future emergency situation, as this was seen to represent the essential starting point for any action to be taken by the Executive Committee or the Commission.
- 55. The Committee therefore <u>agreed</u> not to adopt the original proposals contained in CX/GP 89/8, but to recommend that the Commission adopt the following statement of policy for future guidance, should the need arise.

"Unforeseen emergency situations which may adversely affect health or international trade in foods are, by their very nature, unpredictable. However, FAO and WHO should respond with appropriate advice in the event of such emergencies. Both Organizations should act together to convene expert consultations, if necessary, to provide such advice and to disseminate quickly this information to member countries and interested international organizations.

At the request of any Member of the FAO/WHO Codex Alimentarius Commission for information or assistance concerning an emergency situation, the FAO/WHO Codex Secretariat will seek the opinion of Members of the Codex Executive Committee as to the appropriate action needed; this could include rapid dissemination of available information or calling an expert consultation, and initiating discussions within the Codex framework."

PROCEDURE FOR ELABORATION OF CODEX STANDARDS FOR TROPICAL FRESH FRUITS AND VEGETABLES (Item 8)

56. The Committee had before it document CX/GP 89/9 containing a summary of matters for endorsement arising from the Joint Session of the Codex Committee on Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables. It also had for its consideration comments received from Finland, New Zealand, Thailand, United States of America, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) as contained in Conference Room Documents 1 and 2.

Format for Standards for Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables

57. The Committee noted the proposal of the Committee on Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables (CCTFFV) as contained in Appendix III of ALINORM 89/35 and reproduced in Appendix 1 to CX/GP 89/9.

- 58. Several delegations noted that the format outlined by the CCTFFV covered many points contained in the UNECE layout for standards contained in the comments of the UNECE Secretariat, but that there were slight differences. It was also noted that whereas the CCTFFV had referred only to the general format, the UNECE layout contained very precise details, including a statement as to the point of application of the standards.
- 59. The Committee noted the opinions of some delegations that the UNECE General Layout was not in conformity with the usual format of Codex standards, and that aspects such as contaminants, hygiene and labelling should be addressed in the Codex format. The delegation of the Netherlands, noted especially that the quality criteria which sould be included would need to be extremely detailed, and that the Commission had previously discussed whether or not Codex standards should contain a great deal of detail.
- 60. Noting the opinion of other delegations that the format of Codex and UNECE standards for similar products should be the same and that the standards for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables were at a very early stage of elaboration, the Committee agreed to refer the question of format back to the Committee on Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables, with a request that the Codex format should be respected in regard to those matters not dealing exclusively with commercial quality. The Committee considered that the detailed format of the UNECE should be used as a basis for the description of the section on Quality Characteristics already provided for in the Codex format.

Application and Acceptance of Standards for Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables

- 61. The Committee discussed these two related sub-items together, taking into account the proposals of CCTFFV as described in paragraphs 19-34 of ALINORM 89/35 and summarized in Section D of CX/GP 89/9.
- 62. Many delegations drew attention to the need to apply the quality criteria in the Codex standards to perishable products at the point of export. In the opinion of these delegations the time between export and the point of import or sale to the consumer meant that the standards should be applied at the earlier stage in order for the product to arrive at its destination in good condition. Several delegations drew attention moreover to the procedures which had been developed by the UNECE which had been based on this concept.
- 63. Other delegations drew attention to the obligations of governments in accepting Codex standards, which included a commitment to allow the distribution of the commodity within its territorial jurisdiction. In this case these delegations were strongly of the opinion that the obligation for the application of the standard lay with the importing country.
- 64. The delegation of New Zealand informed the Committee that problems relating to the perishability of the commodities in transport had been resolved in some cases by the preparation of agreements with exporting governments relating to the conditions of packaging, transport, etc. and together with the delegations of Norway and the Netherlands suggested that a Code of Practice in this area might assist the Committee in its elaboration of standards. The delegation of Switzerland drew attention to the Control Certificate prepared by the UNECE which also covered these matters, and stated that these should form the basis for any such work.
- 65. The Committee <u>agreed</u> that commercial quality standards could not be accepted under the normal procedures of the Codex Alimentarius. There were elements of the standards which would apply equally at export and at import, and others which had to take into account a certain deterioration of quality during transport. It therefore agreed that governments in indicating the acceptance of a Codex standard for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables should notify the Commission which provisions of the standard were being accepted in conformity with the General Principles of the Codex Alimentarius for application at the point of import, and which provisions would be accepted for application at the point of export.

66. The Committee <u>decided</u> that there would be no need for amendments to the Procedural Manual in this regard.

Elaboration Procedures for Codex Standards for Tropical Fresh Fruits and Vegetables

- 67. The Committee noted that the CCTFFV had reviewed the existing Procedures for the Elaboration of World-Wide Codex Standards, and had noted that they currently included provisions concerning collaboration with other international organizations (e.g. UNECE, OECD). However, the CCTFFV had noted further that specific steps might be included as a footnote to these procedures to satisfy the Committee's terms of reference regarding collaboration with UNECE.
- 68. The Committee reviewed recommendations of the CCTFFV and proposed the following specific procedures regarding consultations with UNECE:
 - (a) The UNECE Working Party on Perishable Produce:
 - (i) may recommend to the Commission that a world-wide Codex standard for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables should be elaborated; the Commission should have before it the advice of the CCTFFV in the matter.
 - (ii) may prepare "proposed draft standards" for tropical fresh fruits or vegetables at the request of the Commission for distribution by the Codex Secretariat at Step 3 of the Codex Procedure, and for further action by the CCTFFV.
 - (iii) may wish to consider "proposed draft standards" and "draft standards" for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables and transmit comments on them to CCTFFV at Step 3 and 6 of the Codex Procedure; and
 - (iv) may perform specific tasks in relation to the elaboration of standards for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables at the request of CCTFFV.
 - (b) Codex "proposed draft standards" and "draft standards" for tropical fresh fruits and vegetables at Steps 3 and 6 of the Codex Procedure should be submitted to the UNECE Secretariat for obtaining comments.
- 69. The Committee <u>confirmed</u> that current Codex Procedures for the Elaboration of World-Wide Codex Standards did not need amendment, as they provided adequate procedures for collaboration with other interested international organizations. However, it was agreed that the provisions above relating to the role of UNECE in the elaboration of World-Wide Codex Standards be included as note to the Codex Elaboration Procedure.

- 70. The Committee welcomed the proposals of the CCTFFV with regard to its collaboration with the OECD Scheme for the Application of International Standards for Fruits and Vegetables as outlined in paragraphs 38-45 of ALINORM 89/35. It also noted the Resolution of the 43rd Session of the Economic Commission for Europe which requested the following of the CCTFFV:
 - (a) that the list of fresh fruits and vegetables which will be standardized by the new Codex Committee be established in agreement with the other standardizing intergovernmental organizations:
 - (b) that the intergovernmental organizations involved in standardization, work in close relation so as to maintain a high methodological homogeneity in the elaboration of standards;

- (c) that the standards for fruits and vegetables considered as "exclusively" tropical be established without mention, neither in the definition nor in any chapter of the standard, of this fact.
- 71. The Committee noted that compliance with request (a) above would be overly restrictive and limiting to future work, although it was agreed that a list could provide an initial starting guideline for CCTFFV which would not necessarily be closed to further amendment.
- 72. The Committee <u>agreed</u> to the suggestion concerning collaborative working arrangements in Point (b) above and noted the UNECE request outlined in point (c) above.
- 73. The Committee $\underline{\text{agreed}}$ that its opinion should be brought to the attention of the Commission.

ENDORSEMENT OF MATTERS ARISING FROM THE THIRD SESSION OF THE CODEX COMMITTEE ON RESIDUES OF VETERINARY DRUGS IN FOODS (Item 9)

- 74. The Committee had before it working paper CX/GP 89/10, which summarized matters of endorsement for the Committee arising from the Codex Committee on Residues of Veterinary Drugs in Foods (CCRVDF). The Committee also noted written comments received from New Zealand, Thailand and the United States as contained in Conference Room Documents 1 and 2. Deliberations of the 34th Session of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) concerning this matter was also brought to the attention of the Committee in Conference Room Document 1.
- 75. The Committee noted that the third session of the CCRVDF had decided to forward proposed procedures for the elaboration and acceptance of Codex maximum residue levels for veterinary drugs and proposed definitions for "maximum residue level" and "good practices in the use of veterinary drugs" for endorsement. The Committee decided to consider these items on a point by point basis.

Proposed Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Maximum Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs (Appendix IV A, ALINORM 89/31A)

- 76. The delegation of New Zealand questioned the use of the term Maximum Residue Level by the CCRVDF, as this was contrary to the term Maximum Residue Limit as used by the Codex Committee on Pesticide Residues (CCPR). The delegations of the Netherlands and the Federal Republic of Germany indicated that this would establish the use of the same acronym (i.e. MRL) for two different terms. The term "level" was also felt to be too flexible when speaking of maximum values. The delegations of France and Belgium also felt that the interpretation of the term "level" and "limit" into French presented difficulties, and noted that the world "limite" was used throughout the French text.
- 77. The Committee noted that this issue was discussed at length at the 17th Commission Session (para 174 of ALINORM 87/39) and at the second CCRVDF Session (para. 63 of ALINORM 89/31). The delegation of the United States recalled this discussion, and indicated that the CCRVDF felt that the use of the term "level" was more accurate when determining tolerance values for veterinary drugs.
- 78. The Committee <u>decided</u> to endorse the elaboration procedures with the understanding that use of the term "level" and "limit" would be discussed at the 18th Codex Commission Session (also see following discussion concerning definition of terms).

Proposed Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Maximum Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs - Introductory Section (Appendix IV B, ALINORM 89/31 A)

79. The delegation of the United Kingdom, while recalling the Committee's earlier discussions, felt that a statement concerning other international organizations to which

competence has been transferred was a relevant addition to paragragh 1 of the proposed procedures.

80. The Committee <u>decided</u> to adopt the proposed procedures with a view towards their endorsement by the <u>Commission</u> with the understanding that any change made by the Commission to the procedures concerning acceptance by international organizations would be applied equally to the procedures for residues of veterinary drugs.

Proposed Procedure for the Acceptance of Recommended Codex Maximum Residue Levels for Veterinary Drugs in Foods (Appendix V, ALINORM 89/31)

81. The Committee <u>agreed</u> to endorse the proposed procedures with a view towards their endorsement by the <u>Commission</u>, with the understanding that any action taken by the Commission concerning the examination of types of acceptance of maximum limits for pesticide residues (Agenda Item 10) would be applied automatically to the acceptance procedures for residues of veterinary drugs.

Proposed Definition for Maximum Residue Level (MRL) (Appendix III, ALINORM 89/31 A)

- 82 The Committee noted the decision of the 34th Session of JECFA to add the phrase "and estimated food intakes" to the end of paragraph 2. The delegation of Norway suggested that this revision be considered by CCRVDF, in order to obtain the proper technical advice.
- 83. The delegation of the Netherlands indicated that the definition should conform to the Procedural Manual layout for pesticide residue definitions, and that it should also take toxicological hazards and good veterinary practice into account. The delegation also suggested the establishment of definitions for "veterinary drug" and residues of veterinary drugs".
- 84. The Secretariat indicated that all of these points had been considered by the CCRVDF. The CCRVDF definitions differed from the pesticide residue definitions because different approaches were used by the respective committees, when establishing such values. The Secretariat noted that the MRL definition was established by the Committee after careful deliberations based on sound technical principles. The Committee also noted that the CCPR was currently revising its own MRL definition. The definition for "veterinary drug" and "residues of veterinary drugs" had been adopted at the 17th. Commission Session for inclusion into the Procedural Manual.
- 85. In view of several questions remaining concerning this definition, the Committee decided to refer this matter to the Commission for further consideration.

Proposed Definition for Good Practices in the Use of Veterinary Drugs (Appendix III, ALINORM 89/31A)

- 86. The delegation of Austria questioned the use of the phrase "authorised usage...approved by national authorities" in this definition, as it gave the impression that national authorities could approve any veterinary drug usage. The Committee was informed that animal disease situations varied considerably from country to country, and that national authorities were in the best position to evaluate these differences. The delegation of the Federal Republic of Germany also noted the General Principles Committee's previous discussions concerning good agricultural practice with regard to safety (paras. 32-36, ALINORM 82/33), and indicated that the definition for GPVD should include safety aspects. The delegation of the Netherlands also suggested the combination of both definitions for MRL and GPVD as a viable alternative.
- 87. The Committee decided to refer the GPVD definition to the Commission for its consideration, based on the above discussions.

EXAMINATION OF TYPES OF ACCEPTANCE OF MAXIMUM LIMITS FOR PESTICIDE RESIDUES (Item 10)

- 88. The Committee had for its consideration document CX/GP 89/11 prepared by the Secretariat. The Committee recalled that it had, at its 8th Session, considered a detailed review of acceptances and other responses, and of difficulties encountered by governments when considering acceptances of Codex standards. The review also took into consideration the acceptance of maximum limits for pesticide residues. The Committee had concluded that there were no grounds for changing acceptance procedures and agreed that the procedures should not be amended (ALINORM 87/33, paras. 7-39). The Seventeenth Session of the Commission had noted the Committee's views (ALINORM 87/39, para. 143).
- 89. The Codex Committee on Pesticide Residues, at its 20th Session 1988, considered a report on acceptances of Codex maximum residue limits (MRL's). It was informed that the notification of free entry to be granted to foods complying with the MRL's was being increasingly favoured by countries which responded. The Committee stated that in many cases "free entry of distribution" could be considered as a form of Limited Acceptance, especially where the importing country had more stringent requirements or where no national level existed. This was seen to be a substantially positive response and therefore should not be indicated as non-acceptance of the MRL's as is the case presently. The Committee agreed that a re-examination of the forms of acceptance would be timely (ALINORM 89/24, paras. 27-29). The paper before the Committee examined the different forms of acceptance, and alternative approaches for strengthening the acceptance procedure by reducing the number of forms of acceptance to include only those which affected trade.
- 90. The Committee welcomed the proposals contained in the document, but agreed that the use of the term "free distribution" should be used in place of "free entry" as it was more in conformity with Codex practice. It also agreed with the opinions of several delegations and the CCPR that the declarations of non-acceptance contained valuable information for the use of governments and the CCPR.
- 91. The Committee therefore <u>recommended</u> that the forms of acceptance for pesticide residues be limited to the following:

Full acceptance as currently defined; and

<u>Free distribution</u>, meaning that the country concerned undertakes that products conforming to the Codex MRL's may be distributed freely within its territorial jurisdiction insofar as matters covered by the MRL's are concerned.

- 92. The Committee further recommended that the use of Limited and Target acceptance in respect of Codex MRL's be discontinued, and that the Procedural Manual should be amended accordingly.
- 93. The delegation of Brazil stated that it preferred the use of the Limited Acceptance procedure, and expressed its disappointment at the deletion of this procedure from the forms of acceptance.
- 94. The Committee <u>decided</u> that its recommendations concerning the acceptance of pesticide residues were equally valid for the acceptance of residues of veterinary drugs in foods.

SUMMARY OF POLICY DECISIONS BY THE COMMISSION (Item 11)

95. The Committee had before it working paper CX/GP 89/12, as prepared by the Government of Canada. The Committee also noted comments received from the governments of Thailand and the United States concerning this issue as contained in Conference Room Document 2.

- 96. The delegation of the Federal Republic of Germany noted that the document was in need of revision as several decisions required updating and suggested to mark the date on each page of the document to establish the status of all decisions taken up to that date. The delegation of the United Kingdom emphasized that the summary was a first draft. The Delegation suggested that the document be strengthened by including a commodity index concerning "vertical" issues and that the Secretariats from the host countries of Codex Committees should share the task of checking the document for accuracy, and the Codex Secretariat in relation to the Executive Committee and the Codex Alimentarius Commission.
- 97. The Committee expressed its warm appreciation to the Government of Canada for its efforts and noted that the document had already proved to be a useful contribution to the work of the Commission. The Committee agreed that host country secretariats and the Codex Secretariat in relation to the Commission and the Executive Committee, should review the document as suggested with a view towards its future adoption.

STRENGTHENING THE ACTIVITIES OF THE CODEX ALIMENTARIUS COMMISSION TO COORDINATE WORK ON FOOD STANDARDS UNDERTAKEN BY OTHER INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS (Item 12)

- 98. The Secretariat introduced document CX/GP 89/13 on the above subject. The document analysed various aspects of the Commission's mandate to promote coordination of all food standards work undertaken by governmental and non-governmental organizations.
- 99. In discussing the paper, the delegations of Sweden and Switzerland drew attention to the important work of the Council of Europe in relation to the flavouring substances and materials in contact with food. In response to a question put by the delegation of Norway, the observer of the EEC provided information on the role played by the European Committee for Standardization (CEN) in providing voluntary standards for use by the food industry; the use of these standards should be communicated to the Commission of the European Community instead.
- 100. The Committee stressed the importance of global standards for use in food trade in preference to regional ones and noted the opinion of the Executive Committee in this regard. The delegation of France, however, stated that in certain cases where for example there was a diversity of national standards in a region, the development of regional standards could be seen as a positive step in removing barriers to trade. This view was supported by the observer from the European Food Law Association, who pointed out however, that such developments should be seen as transitory, and that the final goal should be the world-wide removal of technical barriers to trade.
- 101. The Chief of the Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme drew attention to the dangers inherent in regional standardization, especially in countries where industries were "protected" by the use of regional standards. Very often these industries found themselves unable to enter into wider trade outside their particular region.
- 102. In view of the above discussion, the Committee agreed to:
- recommend that the Commission encourage regional standardizing bodies which find it necessary to work in the field of foods to adopt international Codex standards and to modify existing standards to bring them into conformity with Codex standards;
- recommend that the Commission authorize the Secretariat to enter into agreements with such standardizing bodies so as to allow them to publish Codex standards as joint standards, provided that the texts are identical;
- recommend that the Commission request all international and regional standardizing bodies to notify the Secretariat of all activities related to the elaboration of food standards, and that this information should be summarized and transmitted to Codex Contact Points on a regular basis.

OTHER BUSINESS (Item 13)

- 103. The Committee noted the amendments proposed by the Codex Committee on Food Labelling in relation to changes to the sections in the Procedural Manual dealing with the Relations between Codex Commodity Committees and General Subject Committees (Guidelines on Labelling Provisions in Codex Standards) and the format of Codex Standards (see para 7-8 above).
- 104. The delegation of Switzerland noted that in future editions of the Procedural Manual, reference should be made in the introductory part of the section on Relations between Committees to the work of the Codex Committee on Nutrition and Foods for Special Dietary Uses in regard to endorsement.

ALINORM 89/33
APPENDIX I
ANNEXE I
APENDICE I

PROVISIONAL LIST OF PARTICIPANTS* LISTE PROVISOIRE DES PARTICIPANTS LISTA PROVISIONAL DE PARTICIPANTES

CHAIRMAN PRESIDENT PRESIDENTE

M. Jean-Jacques BERNIER Président du Comité National du Codex Alimentarius

ARGENTINA ARGENTINE

SANCHEZ Angel
Coordinador General Codex
Secretaría Comercio Exterior
Av. da Julio A. Roca 651 (Piso 5º)
Buenos Aires
Argentina

AZRAK Guillermo
Conseiller pour les Affaires
Economiques et Commerciales
Embajada Argentina
2, rue de Sfax
75000 Paris
France

AUSTRALIA AUSTRALIE

SCHICK Barry
Senior Assistant Director
Australian Quarantine
and Inspection Service
Department of Primary Industries
and Energy
Canberra 2600
Australia

AUSTRIA AUTRICHE

BOBEK Ernst
Director-General
Federal Chancellery
Radetzkystrasse 2
A-1031 Wien
Austria

BELGIUM BELGIQUE BELGICA

CREMER Charles
Inspecteur - Chef de Service
Ministère de la Santé Publique
Cité Administrative de l'Etat
Quartier Vésale
1010 Bruxelles
Belgium

YSEBAERT Gabriel
Ingénieur agronome
Ministère de l'Agriculture
Av. du Boulevard 21
Manhattan Office Tower 08109
1210 Bruxelles
Belgium

^{*} The heads of delegations are listed first; alternates, advisers and consultants are listed in alphabetical order.

Les chefs de délégation figurent en tête et les suppléants, conseillers et consultants sont énumérés par ordre alphabétique

Figuran en primer lugar los Jefes de las delegaciones; los Suplentes,

Asesores y Consultores aparecen por orden alfabético.

BRAZIL BRESIL BRASIL

BEZERRA DE SILVA Francisco Coordenador da Comissao do Codex Alimentarius/SNAD Ministerio da Agricultura Esplanada dos Ministerios Brasilia (DF) Brazil

PERREIRA Ruy Carlos Conseiller à l'Ambassade à Paris Ministère des Relations Extérieures 34, Cours Albert ler 75008 Paris France

BULGARIA BULGARIE

Dr. VACHKOVA PETROVA Rumyana
Head of Department
Institute of Gastroenterology
and Nutrition
Ministry of Public Health
1431 Sofia
D Nestorov str. 15
Bulgaria

CANADA

SMITH Barry
Chief, Food Regulatory Affairs
Food Directorate
Health Protection Branch
National Health and Welfare
Tunneys Pasture
Ottawa, Canada

DENMARK DANEMARK DIŅAMARCA

GALAMBA Inga
Head of Division
Chr. Brygge 12 A
Ministry of Agriculture
Copenhagen, Denmark

BUSK-JENSEN Anne
Deputy Director
Federation of Danish Industries
H.C. Andersens B. 18
DK 1596 KBHVN V
Denmark

HAANING Kaj Senior Veterinary Officer Veterinary Service Laboratory Kogensgade 16 Postbox 93 DK 4100 Ringsted Denmark

HERBORG Lars
Acting Director
Ministry of Fisheries
Dr. Tvaergade 21
P.O. Box 9050
1022 Copenhagen
Denmark

JOHANNESEN Odma Fiskeriministeriet Stormgade 2 1470 Copenhagen Denmark

KRAUSE Marianne
Principal
Ministry of Agriculture
CHR Brygge 12 A
Copenhagen, Denmark

FINLANDE FINLANDIA

NURMI Esko
Director General
Ministry of Agriculture and Forest
National Vet. Institute
P.O. Box 368
00101 Helsinki
Finland

PETAJA Erkki Customs Counsellor Board of Customs Erottajankatu 2 Helsinki 10, Finland TUOMAALLA Vesa General Secretary Ministry of Trade and Industry Box 230 00170 Helsinki Finland

FRANCE FRANCIA

GIANARDI Jean-Luc
Ministère de l'Economie,
des Finances et du Budget
D.G.C.C.R.F.
13, rue Saint-Georges
75009 Paris
France

MONNOT Serge Ministère de l'Agriculture GREF 30, rue Las Cases 75007 Paris France

DESJARDINS Marc
Ministère de l'Economie,
des Finances et du Budget
D.G.C.C.R.F.
13, rue Saint-Georges
75009 Paris
France

DECLERCQ Bernard
Ministère de l'Economie,
des Financeset du Budget
D.G.C.C.R.F.
Laboratoire de Recherches
et d'Analyses
25, avenue de la République
91305 Massy
France

LESEUR A.
Ministère de l'Agriculture
D.G.Al.
175, rue du Chevaleret
75013 Paris
France

BOUVIER Catherine
Ministère de l'Agriculture
D.G.Al.
175, rue du Chevaleret
75013 Paris
France

GESLAIN Catherine
Ministère de l'Agriculture
Bureau Règlementation Technique
et Marché Intérieur
35, rue Saint-Dominique
75007 Paris
France

STERVINOU Michèle Ministère de la Santé DGS/PGE/1B 1 Place de Fontenoy 75007 Paris France

DUHAU Marie-Geneviève Association Française de Normalisation Tour Europe - CEDEX 7 92080 Paris la Défense France

JEANCLAUDE Daniel
Syndicat de l'Industrie
du Médicament Vétérinaire
6, rue de la Trémoille
75008 Paris
France

MARESCHI Jean-Pierre B.S.N. 7, rue de Téhéran 75008 Paris France

VINCENT Pierre-Marie c/o ROQUETTE 62136 Lestrem France

GABON

AKOGUE-MBA Emmanuel Coordonnateur Codex Ministère de l'Agriculture B.P. 18g Libreville Gabon

GERMANY (Fed.Rep. of)
ALLEMAGNE (Rep. Fed. d')
ALEMANIA (Rep. Fed. de)

ECKERT Dieter
Ministerialdirektor
Head of Division
Consumer Protection and
Veterinary Medicine
Ministry of Youth, Family,
Women and Health
Kennedy Allee
5300 Bonn 2
Germany F.R.

TRENKLE Klaus
Regierungs direktor
Bundesministerium für Ernahrung
Landwirtschaft und Forsten
Rochus str. 1
D-5300 Bonn 1
Germany F.R.

IRELAND IRLANDE IRLANDA

KEARNS Michael Attache Agricole Ambassade d'Irlande 12, avenue Foch 75116 Paris France

STONYER Eric J. Agric. Adviser 7, rue Léonard de Vinci 75116 Paris France MEXICO MEXIQUE

MENDEZ R. Eduardo R.
Chairman of Codex Alimentarius
FAO/WHO Commission
Food Standards Programme
Stria. de Comercio Mexico
P.O. Box 60486
Mexico D.F. 03800
Mexico

NETHERLANDS
PAYS-BAS
PAISES BAJOS

BERBEN Pieter
Chief Health Officer
Ministry of Welfare, Health
and Culture
Postbus 5406
2200 HK Ryswijk
Netherlands

KNOTTNERUS Otto C.
Central Commodity Board
on Arable Products
Post Box 29739
The Hague
Netherlands

FEBERWEE Alfred
Deputy Director
Nutrition and Quality Affairs
Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
Bezuidenhoutseweg 73
The Hague
Netherlands

NEW ZEALAND
NOUVELLE ZELANDE
NEUVA ZELANDIA

BOYD Gilbert Co-ordinator (International Affairs) Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries P.O. Box 2526 Wellington New Zealand NORWAY NORVEGE NORUEGA

RACE John
Special Adviser
Norwegian Food Control
Authority
P.O. Box 8187 Dep.
N-0034 Oslo 1
Norway

AABY Kirsten
Ass. Director General
Norwegian Food Control
Authority
P.O. Box 8187 Dep.
N-0034 Oslo 1, Norway

PORTUGAL

NEVES Maris do Carmo
Chef de la Division
de Normalisation - IQA
Ministry of Agriculture
R. Alexandre Herculano, 6
1100 - Lisbon
Portugal

SENEGAL

DIOUF Abdoulage

Adjoint Directeur de l'Institut sénégalais de normalisation (ISN) Chef de la Division agro-alimentaire Ministère du Plan de Coopération 61, Bd Pinet Laprade B.P. 4010 Dakar Senegal

SPAIN ESPAGNE ESPANA

MITTELBRUNN Felipe
Jefe de Servicio
Comisión interministerial para la
ordenación alimentaria
Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo
Paseo del Prado 18-20
28071 Madrid, Spain

GOMEZ LOPEZ José Luis Consejero Tecnico Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores Ma de Molina 39-7º Madrid Spain

SWEDEN SUEDE SUECIA

BLOMBERG Barbro Head of International Secretariat National Food Adminstration 75126 Uppsala Sweden

HENRIKSSON Rune
Deputy Director General
National Food Administration
S-75126 Uppsala
Sweden

SWITZERLAND SUISSE SUIZA

ROSSIER Pierre Chef Section Normes Internationalel Office Fédéral de la Santé Publique Haslerstrasse 16 CH-3000 Berne 14 Switzerland

DU BOIS Irina Nestec S.A. CH-1800 Vevey Switzerland

SCHMIDLI Benjamin F. Hoffmann - La Roche 4002 Basel

THAILAND THAILANDE TAILANDIA

SURAKUL Marasee
Ass. Secretary General
Office of the National FAO Committee
of Thailand
Ministry of Agriculture and Coop.
Bangkok, Thailand

PHOLMANI Suphorn Troisième Secrétaire Ambassade Royale de Thailande 8, rue Greuze 75116 Paris France

UNITED KINGDOM ROYAUME-UNI REINO UNIDO

COCKBILL Charles A.
Head of Food Standards Division
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries
and Food
Ergon House c/o Nobel House
17 Smith Square
London SWIP 3JR

MILLAR Keith
Head of Food Composition Branch
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries
and Food
Ergon House c/o Nobel House
17 Smith Square
London SWIP 3JR

UNITED STATES
ETATS-UNIS
ESTADOS UNIDOS

CRAWFORD Lester
Administrator
Food Safety and Inspection Service
Department of Agriculture
14th & Independence Ave., SW
Washington, DC 20250
USA

RONK Richard
Acting Director
Center for Food Safety
and Applied Nutrition
Food and Drug Administration
200 C St., SW
Washington, DC 20204
USA

COOPER Charles
Assistant Director
Center for Food Safety
and Applied Nutrition
Food and Drug Administration
200 C St., SW
Washington, DC 20204
USA

NALLY Rhonda
Executive Officer for Codex
Food Safety and Inspection Service
Department of Agriculture
14th & Independence Ave.
Washington, DC 20250
USA

FARQUHAR John Vice President Science and Technology Food Marketing Institute 1750 K Street NW Washington DC 20006 USA

OBSERVERS
OBSERVATEURS
OBSERVADORES

ASSOCIATION EUROPEENNE POUR LE

DROIT DE L'ALIMENTATION (AEDA)

EUROPEAN FOOD LAW ASSOCIATION (EFLA)

GERARD Alain Secrétaire Général 3 Boulevard de la Cambre Bte 34 1050 Bruxelles, Belgique

KERMODE G.O.
3 Boulevard de la Cambre
Bte 34
1050 Bruxelles, Belgique

McNALLY Harry Assessor Technique EFLA Viale Marco Polo, 80 00154 Roma, Italia HANSON Leon
Assessor Technique
EFLA
7 Conchmore Av.
Esher, Surrey

EEC (EUROPEAN COMMUNITY) CEE (COMMUNAUTE EUROPEENNE)

CISNETTI Luigi
Administrateur principal
Secrétariat Général du Conseil
des Communautés Européennes
17, rue de la Loi
1048 Bruxelles
Belgique

DEMINE Olga
Administrateur principal
Commission des Communautés
Européennes
Direction Générale du Marché Intérieur
et des Affaires Industrielles
Rue de la Loi
1040 Bruxelles, Belgique

GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE (GATT)

STANTON Gretchen Counsellor GATT Rue de Lausanne 154 CH-1211 Genève 21, Suisse

INTERNATIONAL TRADE CENTRE UNCTAD/GATT (ITC)

SIERRA Enrique Senior Adviser on Quality Control Palais des Nations 1 1211 Geneva 10 Switzerland

MARINALG INTERNATIONAL

PIOT Jean-Jacques Conseiller 85 Boulevard Haussmann 75008 Paris, France

OECD/OCDE

AUBE Thierry
Administrateur
Division des Echanges et des
Marchés Agricoles
Direction de l'Agriculture
2, rue André Pascal
75775 Paris Cédex 16
France

OFFICE INTERNATIONAL DE LA VIGNE ET DU VIN (OIV)

TINLOT Robert
Directeur OIV
12, rue Roquépine
75008 Paris, France

CONFEDERATION EUROPEENNE DU COMMERCE DE DETAIL (CECD)

VAN EWYK Aad
Chairman of Group 1
Avenue d'Auderghem
1040 Bruxelles, Belgique

CONFEDERATION INTERNATIONALE DU COMMERCE ET DES INDUSTRIES DES LEGUMES SECS (CICILS/IPTIC)

GAUTHIER Jacques Délégué Général Bureau 286 Bourse de Commerce 74040 Paris Cédex 01 France

CONFEDERATION DES INDUSTRIES AGRO-ALIMENTAIRES DE LA CEE

MOUTON Philippe Rue Joseph II, 40 B-1040 Bruxelles, Belgique

FEDERATION NATIONAL DE L'INDUSTRIE LAITIERE (FIL/IDF)

GILLIS Jean-Claude 41 Square Vergote 1040 Bruxelles, Beligique STAAL Pierre 41 Square Vergote 1040 Bruxelles, Belgique

FEDERATION INTERNATIONALE DES
INDUSTRIES DU COMMERCE EN GROS
DE VINS, SPIRITUEUX, EAUX-DE-VIE
ET LIQUEURS (FIVS)

BAZIN Henri Directeur FIVS 116 Boulevard Haussmann 75008 Paris, France

LEGAL ADVISORS

SHUBBER Sami Senior Legal Officer WHO Avenue Appia 1211 Geneve 27 Switzerland

STEIN Richard Principal Legal Officer FAO Rome, Italie

FRENCH SECRETARIAT

VERGNETTES Jeannie Secrétaire Général D.G.C.C.R.F. 13, rue Saint-Georges 75009 Paris France

WEILL Florence D.G.C.C.R.F. 13, rue Saint-Georges 75009 Paris, France

JOINT FAO/WHO SECRETARIAT

LUPIEN John Chief, FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme FAO 00100 Rome, Italy RANDELL Alan Senior Officer Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme FAO 00100 Rome, Italy

KAFERSTEIN F.
Manager, Food Safety Unit
Division of Environmental Health
World Health Organization
CH-1211 Genève, Suisse

BYRON David H.
Associate Professional Officer
Food Standards
FAO
00100 Rome, Italy

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE PROCEDURE FOR THE ELABORATION OF CODEX STANDARDS, CODES OF PRACTICE AND CODEX MAXIMUM LIMITS FOR PESTICIDE RESIDUES

The two last sentences in paragraph 1 of the Introduction to the Procedure for the Elaboration of Codex Standards and Codes of Practice, Codex Maximum Limits for Pesticide Residues to read as follows:

"The Codex Standard is published and is sent for acceptance to governments. It is also sent to international organizations to which competence in the matter has been transferred by their member states. Details of acceptances are published periodically by the Commission's Secretariat".

The second sentence of the first paragraph of "Subsequent Procedure Concerning Publication and Acceptance of Codex Standards" to read as follows:

"Members of the Commission and international organizations to which competence in the matter has been transferred by their member states notify the Secretariat of the acceptance of the Codex standards in accordance with the acceptance procedure laid down in paragraph 4, paragraph 5, or in paragraph 6 of the General Principles of the Codex Alimentarius, whichever is appropriate."

The second paragraph of "Subsequent Procedure Concerning Publication and Acceptance of Codex Standards" to read as follows:

"The Secretariat publishes periodically details of notifications received from governments and from international organizations to which competence in the matter has been transferred by their member states with respect to the acceptance or otherwise of Codex standards and in addition to this information on appendix for each Codex standard:

- a) listing the countries in which products conforming with such standards may be freely distributed, and
- b) where applicable, stating in detail all specified deviations which may have been declared (by any accepting country) in respect to the acceptance."

ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURE FOR CODEX STANDARDS

GUIDELINES

The importance of a response to every notification

- 1. The Codex Alimentarius is the record of Codex Standards and of acceptances or other notifications by Member Countries. It is revised regularly to take account of the issue of new or amended standards and the receipt of notifications from governments. It is important that governments respond to every issue of new or amended standards. Governments should aim at giving formal acceptance to the standards. If acceptance or free circulation cannot be given unconditionally, the deviations or conditions, and the reasons, can be included in the response. Early and regular responses will ensure that the Codex Alimentarius can be kept up-to-date so as to serve as an indispensable reference for governments and international traders.
- 2. Governments should ensure that the information in the Codex Alimentarius reflects the up-to-date position. When changing national laws or practices the need for a notification to the Codex Secretariat should always be kept in mind.
- 3. The Codex procedure for elaboration of standards enables governments to participate at all stages. Governments should be able to make an early response to the issue of a Codex standard and should do their utmost to be ready to do so.

The Codex Alimentarius - not a substitute for, or alternative to, referring to national legislation

- 4. Every country's laws and administrative procedures contain provisions which it is essential to understand and comply with. It is usually the practice to take steps to obtain copies of relevant legislation and/or to obtain professional advice about compliance. The Codex Alimentarius is a comparative record of the substantive similarities and differences between Codex Standards and corresponding national legislation. The Codex Standard will not normally deal with general matters of human, plant or animal health or with trade marks. The language which is required on labels will be a matter for national legislation and so will import licences and other administrative procedures.
- 5. The responses by governments should show clearly which provisions of the Codex Standard are identical to, similar to or different from the related national requirements. General statements that national laws must be complied with should be avoided or accompanied by details of national provisions which require attention. Judgement will sometimes be required where the national law is in a different form or where it has different provisions.

Obligations under the Acceptance Procedure

- 6. The obligations which a country undertakes under the acceptance procedure are included in paragraph 4 of the General Principles. Paragraph 4A(i)(a) provides for free distribution of conforming products, 4A(i)(b) with the need to ensure that products which do not conform may not be distributed "under the name and description laid down". Paragraph 4A(i)(c) is a general requirement not to hinder the distribution of sound products, except for matters relating to human, plant or animal health, not specifically dealt with in the standard. Similar provisions are included in Acceptance with Specified Deviations.
- 7. The essential difference between acceptances and notifications of free distribution is that a country which accepts, undertakes to enforce the Codex standard and to accept all the obligations set out in the General Principles subject to any specified deviations.
- 8. The Codex Committee on General Principles (CCGP) and the Commission (CAC) have reviewed the acceptance procedure and notifications by governments on a number of occasions. While recognizing that difficulties can arise from time to time in reconciling the obligations of the acceptance procedure with the laws and administrative procedures of a Member Country, the CCGP and the CAC have determined that the obligations are essential to the work and status of the CAC and that they should not be weakened in any way. The purpose of these guidelines therefore is to assist governments when they are considering how, in the light of the objectives of the acceptance procedure, to respond to Codex Standards.

The return of the response

9. The principal decision which is required is whether to notify an acceptance according to one of the methods prescribed, a non-acceptance or a declaration of free circulation as provided for in 4B. Free circulation does not carry with it the obligation to prevent non-conforming products from being circulated, and it may be useful in cases where there is no corresponding national standard and no intention to introduce one. If time will be necessary, for example, to change laws or pactices, in order to give an acceptance, it would be helpful to send an interim response of free circulation or target acceptance.

The need for an informed, responsible judgement when comparing the Codex Standard with national laws

10. There will be some occasions when the detail in the Codex Standard is identical with national laws. Difficulties will arise however when national laws are in a different form, contain different figures or no figures at all, or in cases where there may be no standard in the country which corresponds in substance to the Codex Standard.

The authority responsible for notifying the response to the CAC is urged to do its best to overcome any such difficulties by the exercise of its best endeavours and to respond, after such consultations as may be appropriate with the national organizations. The grounds on which the judgement has been based can be made clear in the notification. It may well be that they will not be such as to justify an acceptance, because of the obligations to stop the distribution of non-conforming products, but a statement of free circulation should be possible on the basis of the facts and practices of each case. If there was a court decision or change in the law or practice subsequently, an amending response should be made.

Presumptive standards

- 11. A presumptive standard is one which is assumed to be the standard in the absence of any other. (A presumption in law is the assumption of the truth of anything until the contrary is proved). Some countries have said that a Codex MRL is the presumptive limit for a pesticide residue. Countries may be able and willing to regard a Codex Standard as the presumptive standard in cases where there is no corresponding standard, code of practice or other accepted expression of the "nature, substance or quality" of the food. A country need not apply the presumption to all the provisions of the standard if the details of its additives, contaminants, hygiene or labelling rules are different from those in the standard. In such a case the provisions in the Codex Standard defining the description, essential composition and quality factors relating to the specified name and description could still be the presumptive standard for those matters.
- 12. The justification for regarding the Codex Standard as a presumptive standard is the fact that it is the minimum standard for a food elaborated in the CAC 'so as to ensure a sound, wholesome product free from adulteration, correctly labelled and presented". (General Principles, Paragraph 3). The word minimum does not have any pejorative connotations: it simply means the level of quality and soundness of a product judged by consensus to be appropriate for trade internationally and nationally.
- 13. Whether a presumptive standard would merit an acceptance would depend on whether the country concerned could say that non-conforming products could not be distributed under the same name and description laid down in the standard. However it would enable a declaration of free circulation to be made and countries are asked to give the idea serious consideration.

Format and Content of Codex Standards

14. Scope. This section, together with the name of the standard and the name and description laid down in the labelling section, should be examined in order to assess whether the obligations of the acceptance procedure can properly be accepted.

Description, essential composition and quality factors. sections will define the minimum standard for the food. They will be the most difficult to address unless by chance the details are virtually identical (i.e. ignoring significant matters of editorial expression or However, a country which has taken part in the elaboration of the standard either by attending the meetings or by sending comments. under the Step procedure has, no doubt, consulted national organizations on the extent to which the draft provisions in the standard would be acceptable nationally. This factual information needs to be turned into a formal response when the standard is sent out for acceptance. Countries are asked to do their best to exercise an informal judgement on lines discussed in Paragraph 7 above. Some of the quality criteria e.g. allowances for defects may represent good manufacturing practice or be left to trade contracts. This will have to be taken into account. A free circulation response ought to be possible in most cases.

Food Additives

16. The food additives included in the standard have been assessed and cleared by JECFA. The Commodity Committee and the CCFA have assessed technological need and safety-in-use. If national laws are different, all the detailed differences should be reported. It should be borne in mind, however, that the aim of international food standardization work is to harmonize policies and attitudes as much as possible. Therefore every effort should be made to keep deviations to the minimum.

Contaminants

17. If national limits apply they should be quoted if not the same as those laid down in the Codex Standard. Where general laws about safety, health or nature of the food apply, the limits quoted in the standard could properly be regarded as representing those which are unavoidable in practice and within safety limits.

Hygiene and Weights and Measures

18. If national requirements are different they should be reported.

Labelling

- 19. The revised General Standard for the Labelling of Prepackaged Foods represents the international consensus on information to be included on the labels of all foods.
- 20. Governments are exhorted to use the revised General Standard as a basis for their national legislation and to keep differences to an absolute minimum especially those of detail or minutiae. Governments should observe the footnote to the Scope section and should ensure

that all compulsory provisions relating to presentation of information are additional to, and different from, those in the standard Any other compulsory provisions in national should be notified. legislation should also be notified if they are not provided for in the Codex standard. The labelling provisions in Codex standards will be revised as soon as possible and will include sections of the revised General Standard by reference. When accepting a revised Codex commodity standard, a country which has already accepted and responded to the general labelling standard can then refer to the terms of that acceptance in any subsequent responses. As much specific information as is relevant and helpful should be given. In particular, this should include the name and description relating to the food, the interpretation of any special requirements relating to the law or custom of the country, any additional details about presentation of the mandatory information and detailed differences if any in the labelling requirements e.g. in relation to class names, declaration of added water, declaration of origin. It will be assumed that the language(s) in which the particulars should be given will be as indicated by national legislation or custom.

Methods of Analysis and Sampling

- 21. The obligations which a country assumes in accepting the following Codex Defining Methods of Analysis included in Codex standards are as follows 1/:
 - (a) Codex Defining Methods of Analysis (Type I) are subject to acceptance by governments just as are the provisions which they define and which form part of Codex standards.

"Full acceptance" of a Codex Defining Method means the acceptance that the value provided for in a Codex standard is defined by means of the Codex method. In determining compliance with the value in the Codex standard, governments undertake to use the Codex Defining Method, especially in cases of disputes involving the results of analysis.

"Non-acceptance" of Codex Defining Method or acceptance of Codex standards with substantive deviations in the Codex Defining Methods means acceptance of the Codex standard with specified deviation.

^{1/} The Committee on General Principles, when elaborating these Guidelines, noted that the Classification of Methods was under review by the Codex Committee on Methods of Analysis and Sampling and that the application of part (b) particularly could be unnecessarily restrictive.

- (b) The "acceptance" of Codex standards containing Codex Reference Methods of Analysis (Type II) means the recognition that Codex Reference Methods are methods the reliability of which has been demonstrated on the basis of internationally acceptable criteria. They are, therefore, obligatory for use, i.e. subject to acceptance by governments, in disputes involving the results of analysis. "Non-acceptance" of the Codex Reference Method or acceptance of Codex standards with substantive deviations in the Codex Reference Methods for use in disputes involving methods of analysis, should be taken to mean acceptance of the Codex standard with specified deviation.
- (c) The "acceptance" of Codex standards containing Codex
 Alternative Approved Methods of Analysis (Type III)
 means the recognition that Codex Alternative Approved
 Methods are methods the reliability of which has been
 demonstrated in terms of internationally acceptable
 criteria. They are recommended for use in food control,
 inspection or for regulatory purposes.

"Non acceptance" of a Codex Alternative Approved Method does not constitute a deviation from the Codex standard.

(d) Since the reliability of the Tentative Methods (Type IV) has not yet been endorsed by the Codex Committee on Methods of Analysis and Sampling on the basis of the internationally accepted criteria, it follows that they cannot be regarded as final Codex methods. Type IV methods may, eventually become Type I, II or III methods with the resultant implications regarding the acceptance of Codex methods. Type IV methods are, therefore, not recommended as Codex methods until their reliability has been recognized by the CCMAS. They may be included in draft Codex standards or in Codex standards provided their non-approved status is clearly indicated.

Summary

22. Governments are urged to respond to every issue of Codex standards. The inclusion of responses in the Codex Alimentarius will enable the CAC and member governments to address the question of closer approximation of international and national requirements. Governments are urged to take the Codex standard fully into consideration when changing their national laws. The Codex Alimentarius will always be an invaluable reference for governments and for international traders although national legislation must always be consulted and complied with.

ALINORM 89/33 APPENDIX IV

COMMUNICATION FROM THE GATT REPRESENTATIVE

SANITARY AND PHYTOSANITARY REGULATIONS

Ministers endorse harmonization of national regulations as a long-term goal and a work programme embodying the following objectives:

- (1) develop harmonization of sanitary and phytosanitary regulations and measures, on the basis of appropriate standards established by relevant international organizations including the Codex Alimentarius Commission, the International Office of Epizootics and the International Plant Protection Convention;
- (2) strengthen Article XX so that measures taken to protect human, animal or plant life or health are consistent with sound scientific evidence and use suitable principles of equivalency;
- (3) review existing notification and countrer-notification procedures to ensure transparency and the existence of an effective notification process for national regulations and bilateral agreements;
- (4) develop a consultative process which ensures transparency and allows opportunity for the bilateral resolution of disputes;
- (5) improve the effectiveness of the multilateral dispute settlement process within the GATT in order to provide the necessary input of scientific expertise and judgement, relying on relevant international organizations;
- (6) assess the possible effects on developing countries of the GATT rules and disciplines for sanitary and phytosanitary measures, and evaluate the need for technical assistance;
- (7) examine the possibilities for implementation of the above programme in the context of short-term elements.

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETVEEN THE CODEX ALIMENTARIUS COMMISSION AND GATT

Note: The Committee on General Principles recommended the adoption of Recommendations 1 to 3, and accepted Recommendation 4 in principle, pending a final decision by the 36th Session of the Executive Committee.

- 1) The Commission should continue to ensure that steps are taken to avoid duplication of effort and to harmonize possible aras of conflict between the CAC and the GATT Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade. A joint communication between the CAC and GATT Secretariats re-emphasizing the work of the respective parties would be one way of re-establishing closer collaboration.
- 2) The CAC Secretariat should make every effort, in collaboration with the GATT Secretariat, to revive the cooperation arrangements which have been developed since 1970 between the two Secretariats with a view, inter alia, to ensuring the participation of the CAC Secretariat at sessions of the GATT Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade and of the GATT Secretariat at sessions of CAC when matters involving possible duplication of effort or other matters of mutual concern are under consideration.
- 3) The existing notification mechanism for the exchange of information should be examined for possible revision and for use by the Codex Alimentarius Commission.
- 4) The Commission may wish to consider incorporating a reference to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade) into the Codex Alimentarius Procedural Manual. As mentioned previously, Section 13.3 of the Agreement outlines the importance of avoiding unnecessary duplication of work between the GATT Committee on Technical barriers to Trade and that of governments in other technical bodies, and specifically recognizes the Joint FAO/WHO Codex Alimenarius Commission in efforts to minimize such duplication. An analogous reference to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade might be inserted in the Codex Alimentarius Procedural Manual, under the Introductory Elaboration Procedure Section.